FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
11/16/2020 4:00 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 11/18/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. <u>99017-4</u> Court of Appeals No. 77017-9-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHAMIM MOHANDESSI; JOSEPH GRACE, individually as residential owners and derivatively on behalf of 2200 RESIDENTIAL ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit corporation, and derivatively on behalf of 2200 CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Petitioners,

v.

II. ISSUES TO BE REVIEWED

- A. This Court has held that claims only accrue once every element is present. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding the claims here accrued in 2006, years before the plaintiffs were harmed?
- B. This Court has held that the derivative remedy is available at common law to redress the malfeasance of faithless directors and has held that the common law is only abrogated when the Legislature intends to do so. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that the Nonprofit

Corporation Act precludes employing the common law remedy of a derivative suit, where there is no evidence of such legislative intent?

C. The Legislature has determined that a condominium association may "institute" or "defend" litigation on behalf of itself or two or more unit owners and "make contracts and incur liabilities."

RCW 64.34.304(1)(d), (e). Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that these provisions authorize a residential condominium association to impose personal liabilities on individual unit owners for prevailing party attorney's fees in future disputes, *including* the fees of the residential association itself, through a settlement agreement relating to construction defects for which no litigation was ever filed, and where the unit owners were unaware of the settlement agreement's terms?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

2200 Westlake is organized under a master declaration and governed by a master condominium association ("MA"), comprised of four units: three commercial and one residential. The high-rise residence itself constitutes a residential condominium, with a corresponding residential declaration and governing residential association ("RA").

2200 Westlake was developed by Vulcan, Inc., and its affiliate

Urban Venture, which set up a scheme to benefit themselves at the

expense of residents. First, they created a cost allocation system in which

the residential units were unfairly forced to subsidize the commercial units, which were owned by declarant Urban Venture. The allocations—which discriminated in favor of the declarant and were not based on any method or formula—violated the Condominium Act's requirements at RCW 64.34.224(1). CP 377, 5282. The declaration also misrepresented that costs would be allocated based on square footage, and residents were prevented from obtaining the information and documents needed to discover actual cost allocations. CP 7018, 7176, 7800–02, 7807, 7816–18.

To perpetuate the scheme, Urban Venture and Vulcan retained the right to appoint three directors to the condominium board and then appointed, as directors, Vulcan employees with undisclosed conflicts of interest. The Vulcan-appointed directors admitted to using the 2200 Westlake board to favor Urban Venture and Vulcan, including maintaining the unfair cost structure in each year's budget. *E.g.*, CP 5607, 7438–39, 7444. Through these actions, the directors violated their fiduciary duties. *See* RCW 64.34.308(1)(a) ("The ... members of the board of directors are required to exercise . . . [i]f appointed by the declarant, the care required of fiduciaries of the unit owners[.]").

To rectify this unlawful conduct, Plaintiffs, who are two residential owners at 2200 Westlake, brought direct and derivative claims against Vulcan/Urban Venture, the MA, the RA, and MA board members, raising

common law and statutory claims, including for violations of the WCA, the Consumer Protection Act (CPA), and breaches of statutory and fiduciary duties. CP 1, 8579. The trial court dismissed Plaintiffs' claims in full, and awarded certain attorney's fees in the defendants' favor.

In a published opinion, the Court of Appeals held that the common expense allocation violated the Condominium Act and reversed the dismissal of claims against the MA. App. B at 10–14. However, the court subsequently granted the defendants' motion for reconsideration, withdrew its opinion, and substituted a new opinion. *See* Op.

This superseding opinion held that the claims against the MA and Urban Venture/Vulcan were time barred. Op. at 10. It reasoned that all claims "arose" out of the 2006 declaration and accrued then. *See id.* at 11.

The Court of Appeals also held that the plaintiffs could not pursue derivative claims on behalf of the RA or MA. It concluded that a derivative action could not be brought on behalf of a nonprofit corporation because the Legislature did not explicitly provide for such relief, despite the statutory reference to a "proceeding by the [nonprofit] corporation ... acting ... through members in a representative suit, against the officers or directors[.]" Op. at 15; *see* RCW 24.03.040(2).

Finally, the court concluded that attorney's fees could be awarded based on a 2012 agreement relating to construction defects entered into by

the RA, MA, and Urban Venture. Op. at 20. The settlement agreement defined "RA" to include the residential unit owners, CP 19410, though it is undisputed the owners did not assent to its terms. The agreement contained mutual releases and provided for prevailing party fees arising from enforcement of the agreement, CP 19416. The court held that RCW 64.34.304(1)(d) and (e), which gives an association the power to engage in litigation and make contracts, enabled the RA to bind individual unit owners to fee-shifting even though they never approved the agreement, never were given notice of it, never signed it, never authorized it, and were not told it even existed until after it had been executed. Op. at 20; CP 19390, 19397, 19555–57, 19567–68.

IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals' affirmance of defendants' summary judgment motions conflicts with this Court's precedents and presents an issue of substantial public interest. The decision conflicts with (1) the basic principle that a claim cannot accrue before harm exists, (2) the law of derivative standing, which provides a mechanism for members or shareholders to protect their interests from conflicted fiduciaries' breach of duty, and (3) the principle that contract formation requires assent by a party or its authorized agent. The Court of Appeals' failure to follow its

¹ The settlement agreement is included as Appendix C.

own and this Court's precedents, and the public's interest in preserving the most basic common law principles designed to protect individuals' interests, warrants review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).²

A. The Court's Precedents Establish that All Claims Did Not Accrue in 2006, and Are Not Time-Barred

The Court of Appeals departed from this Court's precedents by dismissing claims that accrued within the limitations period. By holding the claims accrued when the declaration was recorded in 2006, the opinion erroneously suggests that all claims that arise due to condominium governance accrue upon the establishment of the condominium.

This ruling is at odds with the evidence, presented in opposition to summary judgment, showing that the defendants violated the CPA, breached duties, and tortiously interfered in 2014, 2015, and 2016. The plaintiffs' direct claims were based on Vulcan paying its appointed directors to conspire with Vulcan on MA matters in order to benefit Vulcan to the detriment of the MA, RA, and residents. *E.g.*, CP 5607 (defendant Zak admitting he obtained a benefit for Vulcan at the expense

² Petitioners assert that the facts of this case are part of a systemic problem: Developers, aided by hand-selected property operators and other professionals, can weaponize nonprofit associations to drive up their profits and, in turn, strip unwitting residential owners of their property rights and agency. The issues herein illustrate that residents suffer when developers' actions are rubber-stamped despite legislative and common law protections for consumers.

of the MA), 7438–39 (defendant Zak admitting that during 2014 he "defend[ed] the interests of Vulcan"), 7813-16 (expert declaration describing unlawful conflicts of interest), 8579–8601 (claims 1, 2, 3, 7, 8 in the third amended complaint).³

These actions, violating the Condominium Act and CPA, are imputed to the directors' principals and employers—the MA, Vulcan, and UV—based on agency and respondeat superior. RCW 64.34.090 (good faith); RCW 64.34.308(1)(a) (fiduciary duty); RCW 19.86.020 (prohibiting unfair and deceptive acts). Their wrongful actions and resulting damages occurred each and every year, including after the complaint was filed—not upon recordation of the declaration in 2006. As Washington precedents establish, these claims could not accrue until the plaintiffs knew or reasonably should have known all essential elements of their cause of action—at earliest, when the act or omission actually occurred. E.g., Gevaart v. Metco Constr., Inc., 111 Wn.2d 499, 501, 760 P.2d 348 (1988); Shepard v. Holmes, 185 Wn. App. 730, 739, 345 P.3d 786 (2014). The dismissal of these claims, contrary to such precedents, warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (2).

³ These direct claims are authorized by RCW 64.34.455.

Likewise, claims relating to the unlawful allocations in the 2006 declaration cannot be time barred until *after* the unlawful cost allocations are actually applied to cause harm.⁴ It is well-established that claims do not accrue until every element is susceptible of proof, including actual loss or damage where that is an element of the claim. *See Haslund v. City of Seattle*, 86 Wn.2d 607, 619, 547 P.2d 1221 (1976).

If permitted to stand, the Court of Appeals' decision will have farreaching implications. As current precedents establish, intentional torts do not accrue when a scheme is conceived, but when it is implemented and causes harm. Breach of contract claims do not accrue upon execution, but upon breach and injury. *1000 Va. Ltd. P'ship v. Vertecs Corp.*, 158 Wn.2d 566, 590, 146 P.3d 423 (2006).⁵ And unconstitutional statutes may be

⁴ If, for example, an employment contract provided for wages below minimum wage, or employment benefits to be distributed on a discriminatory basis, it would not follow that a plaintiff still employed under the contract five years later would have no recourse because the employment contract was executed outside the statutory period. To the contrary, the plaintiff would have claims related to the prior three years' worth of discriminatory or unlawful paychecks, as the claims accrue upon injury—not upon execution of a contract. *See O'Donnell v. Vencor*, 465 F.3d 1063, 1068 (9th Cir. 2006) (each discriminatory paycheck is deemed a separate and independent violation of the Equal Pay Act with a cause of action accruing upon receipt of each paycheck).

⁵ The Court of Appeals analogized the claims here to contract claims, Op. at 14 n.6, but this goes a step too far. While courts apply principles of contract law when examining a declaration, to the extent consistent with the governing condominium act, they widely recognize that a declaration is itself a creature of property law governed by statute. *See Bellevue Pac. Ctr. Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Bellevue Pac. Tower Condo. Ass'n*, 124 Wn. App. 178, 188, 100 P.3d 832 (2004) ("But the declaration itself is not a contract [i]t is a document that unilaterally

challenged if "the harm inflicted by the statute is continuing" or when "the statute is enforced"—not just upon enactment. *Levald, Inc. v. City of Palm Desert*, 998 F.2d 680, 688 (9th Cir. 1993); *see DeYoung v. Providence Med. Ctr.*, 136 Wn.2d 136, 960 P.2d 919 (1998) (invalidating eight-year statute of repose, enacted two decades before suit was brought, as unconstitutional). These precedents establish that harm is a necessary prerequisite to accrual, contrary to the Court of Appeals' decision here.

The decision is also at odds with the Condominium Act, which gives "any person" who is "adversely affected" by a failure to comply with the Act "a claim for appropriate relief." RCW 64.34.455. Under this provision, the unit owners were adversely affected—and thus gained a cause of action—when defendants took actions that harmed plaintiffs. These actions occurred within three years of plaintiffs filing their claims and throughout 2016. *E.g.*, CP 7438–39, 7814–16. The plaintiffs do *not* claim that the mere recording of the declaration in 2006 harmed them.

-

creates a type of real property."). Because a condominium is a creature of statute, the declaration itself must comply with statutory requisites and may be reformed if it fails to comply. *See* RCW 64.24.208(1) (noting that all provisions of a declaration are severable). Moreover, when "a party alleges a breach of a duty imposed by an external source, such as a statute," the party "does *not* bring an action on the contract, even if the duty would not exist in the absence of a contractual relationship." *Boguch v. Landover Corp.*, 153 Wn. App. 595, 615, 224 P.3d 795 (2009) (emphasis added). Instead, the action sounds in tort and cannot accrue until the plaintiff has been harmed.

The Court of Appeals' reasoning and conclusion are at odds with this Court's precedents, and risk confusing trial courts as to basic principles of accrual. As this is an issue of substantial public interest and contrary to long-standing precedents and the Condominium Act itself, the Court should grant discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2), (4).

B. This Court's Precedents Establish that a Derivative Remedy Is Available as a Matter of Common Law that Can Only Be Abrogated by Clear Legislative Intent, Which Is Absent Here

The Court of Appeals' ruling that the nonprofit act disallows derivative actions means that, with respect to a nonprofit condominium, the directors can breach their fiduciary duties, and harm their member's proprietary interests, with impunity. This ruling is contrary to this Court's grant of equitable derivative standing and provides unwarranted protections to dishonest directors. The ruling on derivative standing involves an issue of substantial public interest warranting review.

A condominium association can be organized as either a profit or nonprofit corporation. RCW 64.34.300. The Court of Appeals held that because RA and MA are organized as nonprofit corporations, a derivative action is foreclosed. Op. at 15–16. The court reasoned that the Washington Business Corporation Act (WBCA) "expressly authorizes" derivative actions, while the Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act (WNCA), does not. Op. at 15. It further reasoned that its decision in *Lundberg ex rel*.

Orient Found. v. Coleman, 115 Wn. App. 172, 60 P.3d 595 (2002), precluded the plaintiffs from bringing a derivative suit.

But nothing in the WNCA or WBCA suggests the Legislature intended to abrogate the common law of derivative standing with respect to nonprofit corporations. And *Lundberg* considered only the question of whether directors or private individuals—*i.e.*, individuals with no proprietary interests at stake—have standing to bring a derivative action on behalf of a nonmember nonprofit corporation. *Id.* at 176. That decision is inapposite here, where the nonprofit corporation has members—the residential unit owners—who have *proprietary* interests in the condominium, interests that are controlled by the association.

What is applicable here are Washington precedents relating to derivative standing. Derivative standing is a common law doctrine that allows a member owning a protectable interest to sue on behalf of the entity. *Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 109 Wn.2d 107, 149, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987) (noting that derivative standing requires proprietary interests); *Donlin v. Murphy*, 174 Wn. App. 288, 298, 300 P.3d 424 (2013) ("Standing is a common law doctrine that prohibits a litigant from raising another's legal right.").

The common law has always recognized a shareholder's "equitable right to sue derivatively" based on a proprietary interest. *Haberman*, 109

Wn.2d at 149; see also Kamen v. Kemper Fin. Servs., Inc., 500 U.S. 90, 95, 111 S. Ct. 1711, 114 L. Ed. 2d 152 (1991) ("Devised as a suit in equity, the purpose of the derivative action was . . . to protect the interests of the corporation from the misfeasance and malfeasance of 'faithless directors and managers.") (quoting Cohen v. Beneficial Loan Corp., 337 U.S. 541, 548, 69 S. Ct. 1221, 93 L. Ed. 1528 (1949)); Gustafson v. Gustafson, 47 Wn. App. 272, 276, 734 P.2d 949 (1987) (explaining that a shareholder ordinarily cannot "sue for wrongs done to a corporation," but "because of the possibility of abuse by the officers and directors of a corporation," shareholder derivative suits are permitted).

At its inception, the derivative lawsuit was a judicially-created doctrine devised as an equitable remedy to prevent abuse by directors and officers. *Schoon v. Smith*, 953 A.2d 196, 201 (Del. 2008); *see also Caprer v. Nussbaum*, 36 A.D.3d 176, 187, 825 N.Y.S.2d 55 (2006) ("The derivative action . . . is not solely a creature of statute. Rather, the derivative action originated at common law as an equitable proceeding by which shareholders could assert claims necessary to protect their interest in a corporation, even in the absence of statutory authority to do so.") (internal citations omitted).

Common law derivative standing has never depended on court rule or legislative authorization. The court rules that concern derivative

standing make clear that they are not a *source* of standing, but instead merely recognize that such standing exists and provide procedural limitations on such actions. *See, e.g., LaHue v. Keystone Inv. Co.*, 6 Wn. App. 765, 776–77, 496 P.2d 343 (1972). For example, CR 23.1 states that derivative actions may be brought by shareholders or "members" of corporations or *unincorporated* associations. The availability of derivative actions for unincorporated associations necessarily implies that derivative standing does not depend upon a statute granting such standing and that all manner of entities are afforded this form of common law standing. There is no basis for excluding nonprofit associations from this important equitable remedy.

This Court's precedents also hold that common law is abrogated only if "the Legislature intended to overrule the common law[.]" *Ballard Square Condominium Owners Ass'n v. Dynasty Constr. Co.*, 158 Wn.2d 603, 621, 146 P.3d 914 (2006). Nothing in the language of the statute or legislative histories indicates any legislative intent to abrogate the common law of derivative standing with respect to nonprofit corporations. Indeed, like the WBCA, the WNCA references derivative actions. *See* RCW 23B.07.400; RCW 24.03.040(2). And RCW 24.03.040(2) makes clear that derivative actions are available to members of a nonprofit

corporation in a suit against the directors "for exceeding their authority"—including the breaches of duty the plaintiffs allege here.

There is no indication that the Legislature explicitly considered—and rejected—derivative provisions with respect to the WNCA. Therefore, the absence of such provisions cannot be evidence of any legislative intent to disallow derivative suits. As the common law of derivative standing has not been abrogated, it remains in force, and those with proprietary interests in nonprofit corporations—such as owner-members in a condominium association—can sue derivatively.

Faithless directors should not have a free pass, nor should members' property interests be harmed without remedy simply because an entity is organized as a nonprofit. This is particularly true in the condominium context, because RCW 64.34.455 requires that any injured person be granted a "claim for appropriate relief." Because this is a matter of substantial public interest, and because the Court of Appeals' contrary decision conflicts with its own and this Court's precedents, the Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (4).

C. An Association Cannot Bind Unit Owners to Fee Shifting Liability Without Their Knowledge or Consent

The Court of Appeals ruled that a condominium association can act on the owners' behalf, and in doing so oblige the owners to all manner of personal contractual obligations without the owners' knowledge or consent and despite the association's clear conflicts of interest in doing so. This ruling finds no basis in the Condominium Act, is contrary to Washington precedents relating to basic principles of agency, contract law, and due process, and has profound impacts on the rights and risks of condominium owners. RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2), (4).

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