FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/25/2021 12:08 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 99017-4

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

SHAMIM MOHANDESSI and JOSEPH GRACE,

Petitioners,

v.

URBAN VENTURE, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; VULCAN INC., a Washington corporation; 2200 CONDOMINIUM ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit corporation; 2200 RESIDENTIAL ASSOCIATION, a Washington non-profit corporation; GARY ZAK, an individual; BRIAN CROWE, an individual, BRANDON MORGAN, an individual and JOHN DOES 1-15; individuals or entities,

Respondents.

RESPONDENTS URBAN VENTURE LLC AND VULCAN INC.'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals applied settled law in affirming the dismissal of Plaintiffs' individually asserted claims as barred by the statute of limitations.

There is no dispute that the three-year statute of limitations in RCW 4.16.080(2) applies or that a cause of action accrues when a party has the right to apply to a court for relief, meaning that each element of the cause of action is susceptible of proof.² *See Petition* 9 (citing *Haslund v. City of Seattle*, 86 Wn.2d 607, 619, 547 P.2d 1221 (1976)); *Slip Op.* 9–10 (citing *Haslund*). The Court of Appeals followed precedent in concluding that Plaintiffs' causes of action accrued as of the 2006 adoption of the Master Declaration.

The Court of Appeals was correct that each cause of action "arises out [of Plaintiffs'] claim that the original master declaration, and specifically the common element liability allocation, violate[s] the Condominium Act, CPA, or a statutory or common law duty." *Slip Op.* 10;

-

² An action for a declaratory judgment must be brought within a reasonable time, which is determined by analogy to the time allowed by statute for a similar action. *Schreiner Farms, Inc. v. Am. Tower, Inc.*, 173 Wn. App. 154, 159–60, 293 P.3d 407 (2013). For instance, an action for declaratory judgment on a written contract must be brought within six years, based on the six-year statute of limitations for breach of contract. *Id.*

see also id. n.5. Although Plaintiffs assert that this conclusion is "at odds with the evidence" (*Petition* 7), the issue turns not on evidence but on the nature of the wrongs Plaintiffs alleged. And while Plaintiffs may believe that the Court of Appeals misread their complaint, that is not a basis for review by this Court.³ Regardless, the Court of Appeals did not misread the complaint. To be sure, Plaintiffs stated their individually asserted claims under several legal theories. But at the core of those claims was their contention that the Master Declaration's allocation of common expenses is unlawful and discriminatory.⁴ That was the gravamen of the complaint and the ultimate ground for the relief sought.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, the Master Declaration was either valid—or not—in 2006 when it was executed and recorded. *Slip Op.* 10–11. The allocation of interests and common expenses was binding and had immediate effects. The Court of Appeals applied the established, general rule on accrual in rejecting Plaintiffs' argument that a new cause of action accrues each time the Master Association Board adopts a budget using the allocation. Such actions could trigger the limitations period anew only if the Master Association Board had discretion to deviate from the Master Declaration when it did so. Absent such discretion—which the

³ "As the highest court in the state, the Supreme Court is a court of law, not a court of error correction." 1 WASH. STATE BAR ASS'N, WASH. APPELLATE PRAC. DESKBOOK §18.2(5) (4th ed. 2016) (internal quotation marks omitted).

⁴ These included claims 1, 2, 3, 7, and 8 in the Third Amended Complaint. See CP 8592–97, 8600–01; Slip Op. 11 n.5. Plaintiffs' claim for a declaratory judgment invalidating the 2012 settlement (claim 21) did not focus on the common-expense allocation (see CP 8619), but that claim was dismissed not based on the statute of limitations, but for lack of evidence. 5/19/2017 RP 460.

Board lacked—the Board's actions could not have been in breach of any duty.⁵ *See Slip Op.* 11–12.

The Court of Appeals also followed precedent in determining that the discovery rule did not apply. *See Slip Op.* 12–14. Where this exception to the general rule applies, accrual is postponed until the plaintiff knew or should have known all of the essential elements of the cause of action. *Matter of Estates of Hibbard*, 118 Wn.2d 737, 744–45, 825 P.2d 690 (1992). But the discovery rule does not apply in every case. It applies to certain torts for which, because of the nature of the wrong, plaintiffs do not or cannot immediately know that they were harmed. *Id.* Plaintiffs never claimed that they did not or could not know that they were harmed. As the Court of Appeals observed, the Master Declaration was a matter of public record and was known to Plaintiffs. *See Slip Op.* 13–14.

Contrary to Plaintiffs' argument, this result is not contrary to the Condominium Act. Plaintiffs point to RCW 64.34.455, under which any person adversely affected by a failure to comply with any provision of the

⁵ In general, when discrimination is alleged, only acts performed with discriminatory motive will trigger a limitations period. *See Antonius v. King County*, 153 Wn.2d256,264, 103 P.3d 729 (2004) (citing *Nat'lR.R. Passenger Corp. v. Morgan*, 536 U.S. 101, 108–13, 122 S. Ct. 2061, 153 L. Ed. 2d 106 (2002)). "Discrete injuries that occur within the limitations period—including incorrect payments—that are the inevitable consequences of a decision or action that occurred outside the limitations period are not actionable." *St. Anthony Med. Ctrs. v. Kent*, 748 Fed. Appx. 104, 106 (9th Cir. 2018) (citing *Ledbetter v. Goodyear Tire & Rubber Co.*, 550 U.S. 618, 628, 127 S. Ct. 2162, 167 L. Ed. 2d 982 (2007), *superseded by statute*, Lilly Ledbetter Fair Pay Act of 2009, Pub. L. No. 111-2, 123 Stat. 5)). Plaintiffs' analogy to an Equal Pay Act claim is inapt. In that context, each discriminatory paycheck within the limitations period is actionable because it represents the employer's exercise of judgment to adhere to the initial pay-setting decision. *See Mikula v. Allegheny County of Pennsylvania*, 583 F.3d 181, 185–86 (3d Cir. 2009). In contrast, the Master Association Board exercises no judgment or discretion in applying the allocation percentages mandated by the Master Declaration.

Act or a condominium's declaration or bylaws "has a claim for appropriate relief." But RCW 64.34.455 is not a statute of limitations. Claims under that statute—like virtually all claims—are subject to applicable statutes of limitations. Even assuming that the allocation were unlawful, Plaintiffs' claims are nevertheless subject to all applicable statutes of limitations.

Nothing about the Court of Appeals' straightforward decision to affirm the dismissal of Plaintiffs' claims as time barred warrants review.

B. The Court of Appeals applied settled law in dismissing the claims Plaintiffs purported to assert derivatively on behalf of the Residential and Master associations.

The Court of Appeals broke no new ground in holding that members of a nonprofit corporation lack standing to assert claims derivatively. The Court of Appeals previously held as much nearly two decades ago, in *Lundberg ex rel. Orient Foundation v. Coleman*, 115 Wn. App. 172, 60 P.3d 595 (2002), *review denied*, 150 Wn.2d 1010 (2003). Plaintiffs rest their argument for review on two premises: (1) derivative actions are available in this context as a matter of common law and (2) the Legislature has not clearly precluded such actions. Both contradict *Lundberg* and are wrong.

1. This Court has never allowed derivative suits by nonprofit members.

Derivative suits are "disfavored." *Haberman v. Washington Pub. Power Supply Sys.*, 109 Wn.2d 107, 147, 744 P.2d 1032, 750 P.2d 254 (1987). The general rule is that a shareholder cannot sue for wrongs done to a corporation "because...the shareholder's interest is too remote to meet the standing requirements." *Gustafson v. Gustafson*, 47 Wn. App. 272,

276–77, 734 P.2d 949 (1987), *review denied*, 109 Wn.2d 1024 (1988). This Court has adopted a "narrow exception" to that rule: where a for-profit corporation's directors are unwilling or unable to bring suit to remedy a wrong, a shareholder may stand in the corporation's shoes and sue on its behalf. *Id.*; *Davis v. Harrison*, 25 Wn.2d 1, 9–10, 167 P.2d 1015 (1946). The Legislature codified the right when it enacted the Washington Business Corporations Act (WBCA), title 23B.07 RCW, by including procedures and requirements for derivative actions. RCW 23B.07.400.

But this Court has never permitted a derivative action on behalf of a nonprofit corporation. Nor can this Court's precedents regarding for-profit corporations be applied to nonprofits by extension, because nonprofit members lack the requisite interest that is a predicate to standing. Without exception, to bring a derivative action, the plaintiff must have had a "proprietary interest" in the corporation when the alleged wrong occurred. *Davis*, 25 Wn.2d at 10–11; *see also Sound Infiniti, Inc. v. Snyder*, 169 Wn.2d 199, 212–13, 237 P.3d 241 (2010); *Haberman*, 109 Wn.2d at 149. That means that the plaintiff must have owned stock in the corporation. *Davis*, 25 Wn.2d at 10–11; *see also* RCW 23B.07.400(1) (requiring for derivative standing that the plaintiff "was a shareholder of the corporation when the transaction complained of occurred").

The Court of Appeals was right to reject Plaintiffs' notion that being Residential Association members by virtue of being unit owners somehow gives them a proprietary interest in the association. Owning shares of stock is the only way to hold a proprietary interest in a corporation. *See* RCW

23B.01.400(35) (defining "shares" as "the units into which *the proprietary interests* in a corporation are divided" (emphasis added)). No person can have a proprietary interest in a nonprofit corporation because nonprofit corporations have neither stock nor shareholders. The Washington Nonprofit Corporation Act (WNCA), chapter 24.03 RCW, forbids nonprofit corporations from having or issuing shares of stock. RCW 24.03.030(1). Nonprofits have members, not shareholders, and those members have "membership rights," not shares of ownership. *See* RCW 24.03.005(15) (defining "member" as "an individual or entity having membership rights in a corporation in accordance with the provisions of its articles of incorporation or bylaws").

The Court of Appeals applied unambiguous statutes, followed its decades-old decision in *Lundberg*, and held consistent with this Court's precedents when it concluded that the absence of a proprietary interest in the form of shares of stock means that Plaintiffs, as members of a nonprofit, lack standing to bring a derivative action under the common law.

2. Application of statutory-interpretation principles shows that the Legislature's omission of authority to pursue derivative suits was deliberate.

Because nonprofit members lack derivative standing under the common law, such standing could exist only if the Legislature granted it. No provision of the WNCA grants derivative standing for claims such as those asserted in this case, and applying statutory-interpretation principles as the Court of Appeals did in *Lundberg* confirms that the Legislature's omission was deliberate.

First, this Court follows the principle that, where a statute contains specific inclusions, omissions are deemed intentional. *Perez-Crisantos v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 187 Wn.2d 669, 680, 389 P.3d 476 (2017). Similarly, where the Legislature uses different language in two provisions dealing with a similar subject, the difference is presumed to be intentional. *Id.*; *see also Lundberg*, 115 Wn. App. at 177. In contrast to the WBCA's broad recognition of derivative standing for shareholders, the Legislature authorized derivative actions by nonprofit members only in a single, limited circumstance: when brought "against the officers or directors of the corporation for exceeding their authority." RCW 24.03.040(3). This difference demonstrates the Legislature's intent to deny derivative standing generally to nonprofit members.

Second, when the Legislature adopts some but not all provisions of a model act, this Court presumes that the omissions were intentional. *Ballard Square Condo. Owners Ass'n v. Dynasty Constr. Co.*, 158 Wn.2d 603, 629, 146 P.3d 914 (2006); *see also Lundberg*, 115 Wn. App. at 177–78. The Legislature modeled the WNCA after the 1964 Model Nonprofit Corporation Act, which did not address derivative standing. The next two editions of that model act, published in 1987 and 2008, expressly granted nonprofit members and directors standing to bring derivative suits if certain

⁶ Although Plaintiffs now assert that the breaches of duty they alleged against the Master Association director defendants fit within the WNCA's narrow authorization of derivative actions against directors for "exceeding their authority," that assertion is based on a misreading of the complaint. Although Plaintiffs claimed that the directors had breached their duties under the Master Declaration (see CP 8607–09 (claim 12), 8616–19 (claim 20)), they did not allege that the directors exceeded their authority and committed acts that were ultra vires.

requirements are met. AMERICAN BAR ASS'N, MODEL NONPROFIT CORPORATION ACT § 13.02 (3d ed. 2008); AMERICAN BAR ASS'N, REVISED MODEL NONPROFIT CORPORATION ACT § 6.30 (1987). The Legislature has amended the WNCA numerous times since 1987, including six times since the Court of Appeals decided *Lundberg* in 2002. *See* Appx. A. And while some of those amendments incorporated provisions from the revised model act, the Legislature has never seen fit to adopt derivative standing.

As the Court of Appeals held nearly two decades ago in *Lundberg*, these choices by the Legislature lead inescapably to the conclusion that the Legislature intended to deny derivative standing for nonprofit members generally. If no change is made for a substantial time after an appellate decision interpreting a statute, the Legislature is deemed to acquiesce in the court's interpretation. *Washington Indep. Tel. Ass'n v. Washington Utils*. & *Transp. Comm'n*, 148 Wn.2d 887, 905, 64 P.3d 606 (2003). That is particularly true where the Legislature has amended a statute since its judicial interpretation. *See Woodward v. State*, 4 Wn. App. 2d 789, 796–97, 423 P.3d 890 (2018). The Court of Appeals here wisely decided to follow *Lundberg*, which the Legislature has chosen not to abrogate.⁷

⁷ Contrary to Plaintiffs' suggestion, *Lundberg* is not distinguishable on the ground that the plaintiffs there had no proprietary interest. *See Petition* 12. As discussed above, no person has a proprietary interest in a nonprofit corporation. A decision even more recent than the decision in this case confirms that the Court of Appeals here simply applied the principles settled by *Lundberg*. *See Bangerter v. Hat Island Cmty. Ass'n*, 14 Wn. App. 2d 718, 741, 472 P.3d 998 (2020) (affirming dismissal of purported derivative claims on behalf of nonprofit condominium association, citing both *Lundberg* and *Mohandessi*). Tellingly, although a plaintiff homeowner in *Bangerter* filed a petition for review in this Court, he did not raise the derivative-standing issue. *See Pet'n for Review*, No. 99138-3.

Contrary to Plaintiffs' rhetoric, the Court of Appeals' decision does not mean that nonprofit directors have a "free pass" or can act "with impunity." *Petition* 11, 15. The WNCA provides multiple remedies for director misfeasance. Beyond that, any person adversely affected by the failure to comply with the Condominium Act or a condominium's declaration or bylaws can sue for appropriate relief. RCW 64.34.455. The Court of Appeals applied settled law in concluding that Plaintiffs lacked standing to assert claims derivatively on behalf of the Residential Association or double derivatively on behalf of the Master Association. Review is unwarranted.

C. The Court of Appeals applied settled law in holding that Plaintiffs were liable under the 2012 settlement agreement for the attorney's fees Defendants incurred in defeating Plaintiffs' effort to invalidate that agreement.

Plaintiffs are bound by the 2012 settlement agreement under its terms: the Residential Association was a party to the agreement, and the agreement defined "RA" to include each "member" and "unit owner." CP 12580. The Court of Appeals' holding that Plaintiffs are bound by the settlement agreement and subject to its fee-shifting provision is consistent with the Condominium Act, the 2200 Residential Declaration, the settlement agreement, and precedent.

⁸ See, e.g., RCW 24.03.040(2) (authorizing actions against directors for "exceeding their authority"); RCW 24.03.103(1) (authorizing members to remove directors by a two-thirds vote, "with or with cause"); RCW 24.03.266(1) (authorizing an action to dissolve if the directors have acted "in a manner that is illegal, oppressive, or fraudulent" or if "corporate assets are being misapplied or wasted"); RCW 24.03.103(1) (authorizing judicial removal of directors who have "engaged in fraudulent or dishonest conduct with

respect to the corporation" if removal is "in the best interest of the corporation").

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